1978

Alice Kesler v. David O. Kesler, Trustee of the Estate of Alice Kesler; David O. Kesler, An Individual, and Helen Kesler, His Wife : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

In this matter, Alice Kesler, the Plaintiff-Appellant, and the mother of David Kesler, the Defendant-Respondent, seeks a judgment from the above entitled Court declaring the document marked Exhibit No. P-3, entitled "Warranty Deed", invalid, said document purporting to convey a joint tenant interest in real property from the Plaintiff-Appellant Alice Kesler to the Defendant-Respondent David Kesler.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to reverse that portion of the lower court's verdict wherein said court held valid the joint tenancy deed. The judgment involved in the remainder of

the case covering the property left in the revocable trust was stipulated to.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Alice Kesler, age 85, in the summer of 1971, hired Eldon Eliason, attorney at law, to prepare a revocable trust for her, naming Alice's son David Kesler as Trustee in Trust of said Revocable Trust. Pursuant to the Trust prepared by Eliason, Alice deeded certain real property to her son David in trust as her Trustee. On September 20, 1971, Mr. Eliason, while still acting as Alice's attorney, prepared a Statement of Withdrawal purporting to withdraw certain properties from the Trust, the same to be executed by Alice. Said Statement of Withdrawal included, however, an additional 640 acres which was never a part of the trust property. Alice's testimony indicates that her signature appears on the Withdrawal, but that she has no recollection of signing the same, or of instructing either her Trustee David Kesler or Eldon Eliason, her attorney, to prepare the Statement of Withdrawal. The property in the Statement of Withdrawal includes Alice's home and two rental units, all located in Fillmore, Utah, as well as 640 acres of grazing ground located West of Cove Fort, Utah, about 40 miles south of Fillmore.

On the same date, to-wit: September 20, 1971, Eliason, while still acting as attorney for the said Alice Kesler,

did prepare a Quit Claim Deed conveying the same property included in the Statement of Withdrawal with the exception of the 640 acres, from David Kesler as Trustee, to Alice Kesler, Settlor, his mother. David claimed at the trial to have no knowledge of the facts surrounding the preparation of the Withdrawal or the Quit Claim Deed, but admits executing the Quit Claim Deed and had custody of it at the time of trial. David further stated with regard to both documents that he did not give Eliason any instructions with regard to the preparation of the same, and Eldon Eliason could not recall whether his instructions came from Alice Kesler or David Kesler, but thought that they came from both. Alice denied giving Eliason any instructions regarding the transaction.

On the 5th day of October, 1971, after the withdrawal, Alice wrote a letter to David asking that her Fillmore property be withdrawn from the Trust. Alice says that she does not recall writing said letter, but did indicate that the same might have been dictated to her by someone else, but was reluctant to tell the court the name of the person who dictated the letter. It is interesting to note that the letter requesting the property to be withdrawn from the Trust was written some 15 days after the execution of the Statement of Withdrawal withdrawing the property from the Trust, and the Quit Claim Deed transferring the property from Trustee David Kesler to Settlor, Alice Kesler.

In July, 1972, Alice Kesler, while David Kesler was acting as her Trustee in Trust and while Eliason was still Alice's attorney, prepared a Will while the Trust was still in effect. Said Will, pursuant to Paragraph 4, Subparagraph 5, Page 3, gives the bulk of her property to David Kesler, her Trustee in Trust, and does not comply with the terms as set forth in the Trust Agreement (See Exhibit D-9, and Exhibit P-1).

In August, 1972, Alice Kesler and David Kesler as Trustee in Trust for Alice Kesler, commenced an action against Joseph Kesler and Calvin Kesler, two of the other children of Alice Kesler and Otto Kesler, to recover possession of certain real property from Joseph and Calvin Kesler located near Cove Fort, Utah. Said lawsuit was partially consummated and Alice Kesler was given possession and ownership of said property in question on the 6th day of March, 1973. Shortly thereafter, on or about the 9th day of March, 1973, a Warranty Deed was prepared by Fred F. Finlinson, attorney at law, conveying all of the property covered by the Statement of Withdrawal referred to heretofore herein and marked as Exhibit P-4, from Alice T. Kesler to Alice T. Kesler and David O. Kesler, Grantees as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship, and not as tenants in common. This deed was also made and prepared by Mr. Finlinson while David Kesler was acting as Trustee in Trust for Alice Kesler. The testimony

surrounding the Warranty Deed is to the effect that David and Alice went first to Eldon Eliason to have him prepare such a document, but Mr. Eliason felt that he should not prepare such a document for fear that he would be criticized because of a conflict of interest. He testified further that he though there might be something wrong with him preparing such a deed because he purportedly represented Alice Kesler in the preparation of the Trust, but also felt an obligation to David Kesler as Trustee of the Trust, and therefor, Eliason declined to prepare the deed and he further testified that he refused to give any legal advice with regard to the effect of such a Warranty Deed.

After Mr. Eliason declined to give any advice or represent Alice or David with regard to the preparation of the purported Warranty Deed, David and Alice journeyed to Salt Lake City to converse with Mr. Fred Finlinson, the attorney who subsequently prepared the deed in question. Mr. Eliason, while not being willing to aid Alice or David in any way in the preparation of the Warranty Deed, also indicated by his testimony that he did not refer them to any particular attorney, yet they ended up in the law offices of the said Finlinson whose signature appears on the original Complaint in the action in the lower court entitled "Alice Kesler and David Kesler, Trustee, vs. Joseph Kesler and Calvin Kesler", bearing the Civil No. 6120. Finlinson, however, denied ever putting his signature on the Complaint, or knowing it was there, yet attorney Eliason

said that if Finlinson's signature appeared on the Complaint in question, that Eliason signed the same with Finlinson's permission. In any event, there was some connection, if not a close connection with regard to the matters involving the Keslers and Finlinson and Eliason. Finlinson further testified that he was familiar with Alice and David's case against Joe and Calvin. Finlinson testified that he advised both Alice and David Kesler generally as to what a joint tenancy deed was, but when asked specifically what he told them, he could not recall. In answer to the question as to whether or not he told Alice Kesler with regard to the deed in question that she could never revoke it or recover her property, he said that he had no recollection of the question ever being covered, that it never came up, nor was it ever discussed. He also indicated that there was no discussion with regard to a Will, nor did he give her any advice relating to life estates, nor was there any discussion with regard to the same. David Kesler had no recollection of what was said with regard to the joint tenancy deed, except he concluded that Mr. Finlinson was a thorough man and that he gave a good explanation of the effect of a joint tenancy deed. Mrs. Kesler testified that she had no recollection of executing any document in Finlinson's office, but stated that she went there to discuss the results of her case with Joe and Calvin, the same having been finalized just two days before the preparation of the Warranty

Deed in question, and she further testified that it was her concern to know whether or not the joint tenancy created between her and her husband, Otto Kesler, was valid as determined by the lower court herein and whether or not the same would hold up against Joe and Calvin's claim on the property at Cove Fort on appeal.

The only notes that Mr. Finlinson made with regard to the transaction are found on the bottom of a copy of the Warranty Deed in question, which David's attorney submitted as evidence to the lower court and the notes are quoted as follows:

"Mrs. Kesler and Dave came in and reported the Judge's decision and Mrs. Kesler expressed her determination that Joe and Calvin may receive nothing."

(See Exhibit D-8) (emphasis added)

Alice further testified that she told her son David that she wanted him to have her home in Fillmore (not the 640 acres located near Cove Fort or the rental property or the vacant lot in Fillmore) described in the Warranty Deed, after her death, and not before. She further stated that she wanted a Will, and talked to David Kesler about a Will. She said that she loved and trusted David, and chose him as her Trustee in Trust because she loved him and trusted him, and that he was the only one that she felt that she could trust. She further testified that she would have signed anything that David put before her, while

he was acting as her Trustee, and that David did at times bring certain documents to her home in Fillmore for her signature and that if, in fact, she signed the document entitled Warranty Deed that the title was covered up and she thought she was signing a Will.

She was very emphatic in stating that she never intended that David have anything before her death. David also testified that she told him she wanted him to have her home located in Fillmore after her death, that David was the only one that said he liked the arrangement and the floor plan and that because he said he liked it, she wanted him to have it. David's testimony clearly indicates that the only property that was ever discussed between David and Alice with regard to David having the same after the death of Alice, was her home in Fillmore.

The evidence clearly showed without contradiction that Alice personally paid from her own funds, all of the real property taxes, personal property taxes, maintenance, repairs, remodeling (furnace and roof), painting, etc. on the rental units. David never paid one penny for any of the aforementioned items. The best testimony that David could come up with was to say that one time he hauled a load of trash to the dump for his mother, using his mother's pickup which she gave him at a cost, according to David's own testimony, of approximately \$4,000.00.

Alice Kesler testified that all of the proceeds

received as rent from the rental units were put in her bank account and she spent the money the way that she wanted to. She further testified that the money was hers earned from her rental units which she bought and paid for, along with Otto Kesler, and David had no right to any of the money. David agreed to all of these facts in this paragraph and the foregoing one. David Kesler further testified that he never reported any income received by him on his Federal or State Income Tax Return after the purported Warranty Deed was made purportedly conveying a one-half interest in the property to him. David further testified that he did not cause to be filed or advise Alice to file as her Trustee in Trust for her, a gift tax return when he obtained the purported Warranty Deed from Alice. Alice further stated and David agreed, that Alice had a right to mortgage or sell the property if she so desired and keep all of the proceeds received therefrom without consulting David. In fact, a sale was consummated on one of Alice's vacant lots located in Fillmore, and the proceeds derived therefrom were deposited to the account of Alice Kesler. The money, however, had to be paid back to the purchaser because Alice could not deliver clear title to the vacant lot because it was tied up by her other two sons, Joe and Calvin.

The question way put directly to David Kesler as follows:

"Q: Have you ever paid any taxes on any of these properties covered in this Warranty Deed (P-3)." (emphasis added)

David's answer was as follows:

"A: Mama has always paid her own taxes on her property." (emphasis added)

Mother testified unequivocally that she thought she was signing a Will willing her home in Fillmore to David (Not the 640 acres in Cove Fort or the rental units, or the vacant lots in Fillmore), which David was not to get, but which was included in the purported Warranty Deed (Exhibit P-3), and that the Will which Alice thought she had signed was not to be recorded until after Alice's death. She further testified that it was her intent that David have her home in Fillmore not immediately, but after her death.

David's testimony indicated that he paid nothing for the real property, but that mother told him that he had not received as much as the others, so he should get more after her death, yet the evidence shows as given by David, that he received an \$11,000.00 swather and bailer, and a \$4,000.00 pickup truck in the spring and summer of 1973, while acting as Alice's Trustee. David said he felt that he had some rights in the property, but he certainly did not intend by his testimony to exert such rights until after his mother's death.

Reference is made to Exhibit D-7, which further illustrates and supports Alice's testimony that she did not intend to give David any present interest in her properties in Fillmore or Cove Fort, until after her death, where she states the following:

"At this time I would like all my Fillmore property taken out of the trust. I want you to receive this property after my death, to use the income of or sale of, as you see fit. I am trusting you. . ." (emphasis added)

D-10 was also introduced by the defense to show Alice's intent, and reference is specifically made to that part which the defense relies upon located on Page 4 of said D-10, wherein Alice states that:

"We went to all that expense of building the museum and Mary and LeGrande and the boys and their wives got the whole benefit. Never have you (David) had a break with the others, but earned it the hard way."

It is clear from the letter that the "we" which she refers to in building up the museum, was Alice and Otto, her husband, and not Alice and David, because David never did anything to help build up Cove Fort. He left the Fillmore area in 1946 for Montana, and has been there continually ever since, with the exception of his purported numerous trips from Montana to Fillmore to help his mother.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEREIN IT DECLARED THAT JOINT

TENANCY WARRANTY DEED WAS VALID.

There are various and numerous requirements which affect the validity of a deed. The law covered herein, however, relates only to those legal points pertinent to the facts in question which affect the validity of P-3, the purported Warranty Deed.

One of the prime requisites required to make a deed valid, is delivery, and delivery must be determined by the intent of the Grantor, taking into consideration all of the surrounding facts relating to said deed and the preparation thereof. The mere fact that a deed is prepared and executed by the Grantor and found to be in the hands of the Grantee, does not in and of itself, constitute a valid delivery. To make the delivery of a deed valid, the Grantor must intend to transfer to the Grantee, irrevocable possession, actual or constructive, of the instrument in question, and the Grantor must also intend that an immediate conveyance of title to the Grantee be made according to the tenor of the instrument.

The important element in all cases of delivery is the intention of the Grantor and since the intention of the Grantor is entirely a subjective matter, it must be determined by any and all indicia that may logically appear to bear upon it, and in all cases, there can be no passage of title to the Grantee without a valid legal delivery.

Other circumstances which make the delivery of a deed

invalid which might otherwise be valid, is a mistake on the part of the Grantor, and such a mistake may be unilateral in nature. Fraud may also nullify the delivery of a deed which may otherwise be valid and the fraud may consist of misrepresentation as to the nature of the document being signed, overreaching, and taking advantage of older persons, family members or confidential relationships.

Undue influence may affect the delivery of a deed. The nature of such undue influence which is exercised by the Grantee that nullifies the delivery may be the same as that which would serve to invalidate a Will. That is, the passage of the deed into the Grantee's possession is not the result of the real intention of the Grantor, but of the actions of the Grantee which have in effect imposed his own will on the Grantor with the result that the apparent delivery is rendered invalid in limine.

A benefit received by a Grantee who stands in a confidential relationship with the Grantor, is presumed to be the result of fraud and undue influence, and hence invalid.

In most jurisdictions, when this occurs, the burden shifts from the Grantor to the Grantee to prove the fairness and good faith of the transaction. There is obviously no presumption in favor of a Grantee in possession of a document entitled Warranty Deed of a valid delivery where there is a confidential relationship, to-wit: a son and an aged mother, plus the added fact of a fiduciary relationship

to-wit: a son acting as trustee of an aged mother's estate.

We have in this case, before the Court, one of the most common of all conditional deliveries, to-wit: death of the Grantor, as condition of possession and delivery. The Grantor here gave possession of the document which is entitled Warranty Deed to the Grantee, with the intent that any and all rights of the Grantee to the occupancy, possession, right to rents, obligation for taxes, and title to the property be deferred until after the death of the Grantor. In such cases the criteria for determining whether or not there has been a legal delivery is the intention of the Grantor to convey to the Grantee, a present estate in the property during the Grantor's lifetime, regardless of the fact of physical possession of the deed, if it is the Grantor's intention the document made shall not operate to convey any present estate to the Grantee until after Grantor's death, the deed is held in every case to be ambulatory and testamentary in character and hence invalid for want of execution as required by the applicable statute of Wills.

Such facts as occupancy, possession and acts of dominion over the real property become important where the question has arisen as to the Grantor's intention to make a delivery of the deed. Certainly such acts performed by the Grantor are evidence of ownership of the property and hence give rise to an inference of non-delivery in the instant case.

23 Am.Jur. 2d Sec. 6, p. 82, states as follows:

"Whether an instrument is a deed or will depends primarily upon its operation, and not upon its form or manner of execution. The essential characteristic of a testamentary instrument is that it operates only upon and by reason of the death of the maker; during his lifetime it is ambulatory and revocable. Hence, the maker by its execution parts with no right and divests himself of no modicum of his estate. It is fundamental, on the other hand, in order that an instrument may be operative as a deed, that it pass a present interest, although it is not necessary that the grantee take a present estate in the property conveyed." (emphasis added)

and further in 23 Am.Jur. 2d Sec. 81, p. 133, it states that:

"The intention of the parties is an essential and controlling element of delivery of a deed. Intention has been called the 'essence of delivery' and not only is it often the determining factor among other facts and circumstances, but is the crucial test where constructive delivery is relied upon. Categorically stated, the rule is that it is essential to the delivery of a deed that there be a giving of the deed by the grantor and a receiving of it by the grantee, with a mutual intention to pass the title from the one to the other. . . ." (emphasis added)

and in 23 Am.Jur. 2d Sec. 82, p. 134, it further states that:

"The intention of the grantor that bears significantly on the question of delivery is his intention with respect to vesting the legal title of the land in the grantee. To be valid and effective, the act of delivery of a deed must be accompanied by the intent that it shall become presently operative as such and presently pass title. . . ."

Therefore, the inquiry is simplified by asking, did the grantor intend the property to pass? . . ." (emphasis added)

23 Am.Jur. 2d Sec. 83, p. 135, continues as follows:

"Since the intent of the grantor is a paramount consideration on the question of the delivery of a deed, a delivery which will pass title occurs only when the grantor parts with his dominion over the deed with the intention to pass title."
(emphasis added)

In Gilbert v. McSpadden, (Tex. Civ. App.) 91 SW 2d 889, the court stated that:

"In order to constitute a delivery of a deed, the facts and circumstances in evidence must show an intention on the part of the grantor that the deed shall presently become operative and effective. . . ." (emphasis added)

It is further stated in 23 Am.Jur. 2d Sec. 88, p. 1, that:

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