1978

Alice Kesler v. David O. Kesler, Trustee of the Estate of Alice Kesler; David O. Kesler, An Individual, and Helen Kesler, His Wife : Respondents' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

It is elementary that a case on appeal to the Supreme Court is decided on issues of law. The trial court, in the present case, after considering all the evidence presented, has determined the facts, applied the applicable law, and has clearly held on every point for Respondent.

Appellant has failed to carry her burden in proving the points below in the trial court. On appeal, Appellant has several additional burdens to overcome. First, she must establish that the District Court erred in its characterization of the instrument in question as a deed and not as a will, even though the trial court found the deed to be a valid warranty deed, clearly labeled as such, signed as such by Appellant, and correctly delivered to and recorded by Respondent. In addition, Appellant, in Point II through VIII of her Appellant brief, merely repeats the same line of muddled inference, clearly distinguishable case support, misplaced burdens, and attempts at emotional manipulation which it placed before the trial court.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ESTABLISHED
THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT FAILED TO
CARRY THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN ATTACKING
THE JOINT TENANCY DEED IN QUESTION AS
A WILL AND NOT A DEED.

It is well-established law, in Utah and elsewhere, that a joint tenancy deed is to be taken at face value, and not otherwise, unless contested by another party, who then has a heavy burden of proof to show that the deed does not mean what it says it means:

[It is a] universally accepted principle that joint tenancy documents, be they bonds, bank or savings accounts, deeds, negotiable instruments or the like, mean what they say, and are invulnerable to any other meaning until attacked by someone. The latter (the attacking party) . . . carries the burden of proving otherwise. Such proof must be by clear and convincing evidence. Spader v. Newbold, 29 Utah 2d 433.

See also Hardy v. Hendrickson, 27 Utah 2d 251, 495 P.2d 28 (1972); Beehive State Bank v. Rosquist, 21 Utah 2d 17, 439 P.2d 468 (1968).

Appellants not only failed to prove that the warranty deed was not a deed, but also failed to prove that the warranty deed was a will which failed. The intent of Appellant in executing the deed to Respondent has been clearly established by the trier of fact as being to execute and deliver a warranty deed.

Appellant maintains that the intent of grantor

was not to pass a present interest, but rather an interest, which somehow vested after grantor's death. Appellant failed to point out, however, that

[t]he controlling intent is that which is expressed in the instrument, rather than any belief or secret intention of the party or parties which may have existed at the time of execution. It has been pointed out, however, that the rule and the intention of the maker governs in determining the nature of such instruments is to be invoked only when the recitals of the instrument are obscure, equivocal and uncertain. 23 Am.Jur.2d Deeds §177, at 222-23 (1965) (Emphasis added).

See also Thom v. Thom, 171 Kan. 651, 237 P.2d 250 (1951) (in construction of deeds the intention of grantor as gathered from an examination of the instrument in its entirety is controlling"). Appellant's reliance on First Security Bank v. Burgi, 122 Utah 445, 251 P.2d 297 (1952), is misplaced here. The issue in Burgi was whether the deed had been effectively delivered to the grantee. Evidence in Burgi was conflicting since the deed remained in grantor's valut until his death, so evidence re intent was considered. In the present case there is no question of delivery of the deed physically to grantee. And even where the instrument on its face

is equivocal--certainly not the case at bar--the fraud of modern decisions has been to uphold the instrument as a deed and not as a testamentary instrument.

The deed here is not obscure, equivocal, or uncertain as to the time of its operative effect. It clearly states "WARRANTY DEED" on the top, and was signed as such, before witnesses, by Appellant.

The only other possible explanation of Respondent's intent was that she executed and delivered a so-called "deadman's deed." A "deadman's deed" is a deed delivered to grantee by grantor, with the request that grantee not record the deed until grantor's death. Such "deeds" are a method of avoiding inheritance taxes and probate, and are clearly against public policy in Utah. The trial court wisely and correctly rejected the possibility that Appellant's deed to Respondent was a "deadman's deed." The court chose to judge the deed for what it is and should be--an instrument conveying as a gift a present interest in real property to Respondent.

Property ownership in joint tenancy is a legitimate will substitute and generally an effective probate-avoidance device. Appellant's actions and expressed

desires are totally consistent with joint tenancy ownership. As the joint owner in possession, it is only natural that she would collect income from the property, pay the taxes, and generally manage the property. Appellant as possessory co-owner, in deed, may even be liable to Respondent had she failed to pay taxes or preserve the property.

Furthermore, joint tenancy ownership is consistent with Appellant's proven wish that the Respondent have the property at her (Appellant's) death. In the event Appellant predeceased Respondent, then by operation of law Respondent becomes sole owner of the property in fee simple.

Finally, it is clear that had Appellant intended this document to be a will she knew how to execute one. She had executed a will in July, 1972, in which the formalities were met and in which she provided for her testamentary disposition of property.

In short, it is clear that the deed in question is a warranty deed, as the trial court found. A warranty deed is not a will, and it is not a "deadman's deed." It is exactly what the four corners and surrounding evidence as proved say it is--a presently operative deed in joint tenancy.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT
THE JOINT TENANCY WARRANTY DEED WAS NOT
INVALID FOR ALLEGED INEFFECTIVE DELIVERY.

The general rule, cited by Appellant, is that "a deed does not become effective until it is delivered." Gilbert v. McSpadden, 91 S.W.2d 889, 899-90 (Tex. Civ. App. 1936). Exactly what constitutes an effective delivery varies according to the fact situation. Certainly intent of the grantor to deliver a present interest of real property to the grantee is a required element. Appellant's confusion in the case at hand centers around that nebulous and evasive area of "what really was the grantor's intent." As established in Point I, supra, Appellant failed to meet the burden of proof requirements establishing that Appellant's intent was something other than that clearly evident from the "four corners" of the warranty deed in question.

The warranty deed instrument was clearly signed by the grantor, and was in the possession of the Respondent. The presumption can only be, in this case, that the grantor tendered possession of the deed to grantee with intent of vesting in the grantee title to the property described in the deed:

(a) presumption of delivery of a deed arises from its possession by the grantee or one claiming under him. In other words, possession of a deed of property by the grantee therein named . . . is prima facie evidence of its delivery, and of the grantor's intent then to vest in the grantee title to the property therein described. 23 Am.Jur.2d Deeds §115, at 163-64 (1965).

Presumption of a validly delivered deed is also raised upon recordation of the deed:

It is generally held by nearly all the authorities on the subject that the recording of a regularly executed and acknowledged deed by either the grantor or the grantee raises a rebuttable or disputable presumption of delivery. In other words, a prima facie case is made by such showing. Id. §120, at 168-69.

This heavy burden on the Appellant-grantor is well-established in Utah:

A deed duly executed and acknowledged and shown to be in the possession of the grantee is self-proving both as to execution and delivery, and that the recording of a deed is likewise evidence of delivery . . . And not only is the burden of proving nondelivery upon the plaintiffs, but the inference of delivery arising from possession of the deed by the grantee and from the recording thereof is entitled to great and controlling weight and can only be overcome by clear

and convincing evidence. Chamberlain v. Larsen, 83 Utah 420, 434, 436, 29 P.2d 355, 361, 362 (1934).

Later Utah cases are equally clear. See Controlled Receivables, Inc. v. Harman, 17 Utah 2d 420, 413 P.2d 807 (1966) (deed from father through stawman to himself and four children as joint tenants upheld); Allen v. Allen, 115 Utah 303, 204 P.2d 458 (1949).

In the present case, Appellant conceded even at the trial court, that physical custody of the deed passed from the grantor to grantee, that the grantee retained irrevocable possession of the deed, and that the deed was properly recorded. The inference of delivery was rightfully entitled to great weight at trial court. The trial court correctly found that Appellant failed to overcome this inference by "clear and convincing evidence." Appellant also failed to prove nondelivery by any positive evidence whatsoever.

Appellant's attempts, once again, to overcome the presumption of valid delivery by claiming lack of "intent" by grantor to convey a present interest to the grantee. However, Appellant's assertions are without merit in four ways.

First, Appellant cites no Utah cases to support

her assertion that grantor's intent to make a present transfer is even necessary to establish when there is an actual transfer of the instrument to grantee. It appears that all Utah cases where grantor's intent was an issue with respect to delivery (and hence validity) of a deed involved fact situations where there was no transfer of custody of the deed to the grantee. See Mower v. Mower, 64 Utah 260, 228 P. 911 (1924) (deed found in grantor's possession at death); Reed v. Knudson, 80 Utah 428, 15 P.2d 347 (1932) (evidence of intent important as to whether person to whom deed was delivered was agent of grantee or of grantor); Stanley v. Stanley, 97 Utah 520, 94 P.2d 465 (1939) (conflicting testimony as to whether there had been a manual delivery); Losee v. Jones, 120 Utah 385, 235 P.2d 132 (1951) (evidence of intent showed irrevocable delivery of deeds by grantor to third party). In the same vein, the cases cited by Appellant to support her assertion are distinguishable on their facts. In Gilbert v. McSpadden, 91 S.W.2d 889 (Tex. Civ. App. 1936), the deeds were found in the grantor's baggage (his grip!); at his death, in Martiney v. Archuleta, 64 N.M. 196, 326 P.2d 1082 (1958), the questioned deed was never in the possession of the grantees, and in Henneberry v. Henneberry, 330 P.2d 250

(1958), the court found that the mutual intent of the parties at the time of manual delivery was that document not take effect until the grantor's death.

Second, assuming arguendo that under Utah law grantor's intent is a necessary element of effective delivery even when there is a transfer of the deed to the grantee's custody, Appellant still has failed to carry her burden of providing by clear and convincing evidence that her intention in executing the deed and delivering it to grantee was not to convey a present property interest. This the trial court clearly established, in accordance with Henneberry, supra, at 253:

Fundamentally, the question of intent is one of fact to be determined by the trier of facts on all the evidence.

The trial court was able to consider the testimony of all witnesses, particularly the Appellant, and observe the demeanor, behavior, and inconsistencies during that testimony.

In addition, it is clearly established in July of 1972, less than one year prior to the execution and delivery of this deed that Appellant executed a valid will in

which she left, among other things, the residue of her estate to Respondent. The will was not revoked or modified prior to execution and delivery of the deed in question. Clearly, the July 1972 will is where any testamentary gift or future interest would be provided for--including any residue. In making a present gift, as the trial court found, Appellant intended delivery to convey present title of a present interest.

There is much other evidence which this Court may choose to review to support this point. The great preponderance of the evidence establishes, however, that Appellant did intend, at the time the deed was executed and delivered, to convey to Respondent a present interest in joint ownership of the property as joint tenants.

POINT III

DEED NOT INVALID FOR ALLEGED FRAUD, UNDUE INFLUENCE, OR MISTAKE.

Appellant correctly asserts that a deed may be voided for fraud or undue influence of the grantee upon the grantor. Since undue influence is often used synonymously with fraud or as a species of constructive fraud (See Annot., 28 A.L.R. 787 (1924); Annot., 92 A.L.R. 790 (1935)), both subjects will be treated here. Because

fraud:

[t]he party who alleges fraud as the basis of a cause of action or defense has the burden of establishing it by the requisite of quantum of proof in order to prevail in this action. 37 Am.Jur.2d, Fraud and Deceit §437, at 596 (1968).

Appellant failed to prove these elements of trial court, where Respondent (by far) exceeded his burden in not only establishing the absence of fraud, but did so by introducing far more evidence than his small burden required to establish firmly and clearly the absence of fraud in this transaction.

Finally, it should be pointed out here that at trial, Appellant herself took the rather confusing position by insisting, under oath, that she signed nothing in Attorney Finlinson's office, but that whatever she did sign was a will! This denial of signature was contradicted not only by Attorney Finlinson's seal and signature on the deed, but also contradicted Attorney Finlinson's testimony and Respondent's testimony as well.

Another interesting question arises with regard to Respondent allegedly folding a yellow paper over the instrument to "trick" the mother he stood by and sacrificed for. Appellant claims she could not see the deed because

of the paper. She also claims she cannot see at all, without her glasses, and at trial took great pains to indicate this "problem" by taking several minutes to search for and put on glasses each time asked to read something. If she can't see, as counsel suggests, then she really did not miss anything even if the deed were "obscured." However, the trial court observed this little comedy and probably saw through it in finding for as well as holding for Respondents.

Separate evidence clearly establishes, moreover, that the warranty deed in question was signed, witnessed, and notarized in Fred Finlinson's law office. What, then, was this "folded paper" with reference to? If it did indeed exist, it obviously did not obscure the deed in question.

It would appear, in short, that any testimony which contradicts Appellant's somewhat jaundiced perception of the facts is to be denied any integrity and credibility whatsoever, if Appellant is to be believed. The trial court did not, of course, give credence to these irresponsible allegations and inferences of fraud.

B. Failure to Prove Undue Influence.

The burden on Appellant to prove undue influence is more than clear and convincing. The evidence must also be "cogent." See Richmond v. Ballard, 7 Utah 2d 341, 325 P.2d 839 (1958), CITED IN Bradbury v. Rasmussen, 50 Wash. 2d 142, 309 P.2d 1050 (1957).

Once again, Appellant has failed in trial court to prove that burden. If anything, at trial the Appellant's very strong will and inability to be influenced by anyone were very evident to the trier of fact.

Appellant appears uncertain, even evasive, in attempting to define undue influence. She cites two out-of-state cases as well as American Jurisprudence in a vague and muddled way, without reference to the more commonly understood definitions which amount to substituting the will of one person for that of another.

One court has held that undue influence

[t]o vitiate a conveyance must destroy the grantor's free agency at the time the conveyance is executed and must, in effect, substitute the will of another for that of the grantor . . . [n]ot all influences will avoid a deed. Influences which arise out of the affection, confidence and gratitude of a parent to a child and inspire a gift are natural and lawful influences and will not render such a gift voidable. It is only

when influences have been such as to confuse the judgment and control the will of the grantor that they become undue influences. Antle v. Hartman, 193 Okla. 524, 524, 525-26, 145 P.2d 756, 756-57 (1944). (Emphasis added).

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